
…Board Meeting Agenda – May 4, 2021 Page 1 of 2  

 

 Prairie South Schools 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 

 

 

DATE: May 4, 2021 
1:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 

Central Office, 1075 9th Avenue NW 
Moose Jaw 

 
AGENDA 

 
 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Adoption of the Agenda 
 

3. Adoption of Minutes 
3.1. Regular Board April 6, 2021 

 
4. Decision and Discussion Items 

4.1. Transportation Catchment Area Applications 
4.2. Local Independent Negotiation Committee (LINC) Agreement 
4.3. Proposed 2021-2022 Budget 
4.4. 2021 Graduation Dates 
4.5. Monthly Reports  

4.5.1. Teacher Absence and Substitute Usage Report 
4.5.2. CUPE Staff Absence and Substitute Usage Report 
4.5.3. Bus Driver Absence and Substitute Usage Report 
4.5.4. Out of Scope Absence and Substitute Usage Report 
4.5.5. Tender Report 
 

5. Delegations and Presentation 
5.1.      1:20 PM Tannis Brideau – Information Regarding COVID Response 

 
6. Information Items 

6.1. Village of Avonlea Statement of Claim 
 

7. Provincial Matters 
 

8. Celebration Items 
 

9. Identification of Items for Next Meeting Agenda 
9.1. Notice of Motions 
9.2. Inquiries 

 
 

 



…Board Meeting Agenda – May 4, 2021 Page 2 of 2  

10. Meeting Review 
 

11. Adjournment 
 

 



 

Prairie South School Division No.210 Board Meeting Minutes-April 6, 2021                                              page 1  
 

 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING OF THE PRAIRIE SOUTH 
SCHOOL DIVISION NO. 210 BOARD OF EDUCATION held at the Central Office, 
1075 9th Avenue North West, Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan on April 6, 2021 at 1:00 p.m. 
 
Attendance:  

Mr. R. Bachmann; Mr. J. Bumbac; Dr. S. Davidson; Ms. C. Froese; Mr. B. Hagan; Mr. T. 
Johnson; Ms. M. Jukes; Ms. D. Pryor; Ms. G. Wilson; Mr. L. Young; R. Purdy, Business 
Manager; D. Teneycke, Superintendent of School Operations; A. Johnson, Superintendent of 
Human Resources; A. Olson, Superintendent of Learning; D. Huschi, Superintendent of School 
Operations; R. Boughen, Superintendent of School Operations; T. Baldwin, Director of 
Education; R. Dueck, Executive Assistant 
 
Regrets: 

S. Robitaille, Superintendent of Business and Operations 

Delegations:  

 
Motions: 
 
2021-04-06 - 3552 That the meeting be called to order at 1:04 pm. 

- Bachmann 
 

 

2021-04-06 - 3553 That the Board adopt the agenda as presented. 
- Johnson 
 

Carried 

2021-04-06 - 3554 That the Board adopt the minutes of the March 2, 2021 Board 
meeting. 
- Jukes 

 

Carried 

2021-04-06 - 3555 That the Board approve the presented 2021-2022 K-12 and 
Hutterian Calendars and direct administration to forward the 
approved calendar package to the Ministry of Education for 
Ministry review. 
- Pryor 
 

Carried 

2021-04-06 - 3556 That the Board confirm the appointment of Ryan Boughen as 
Director of Education effective August 1, 2021. 
- Bumbac 
 

Carried 

2021-04-06- 3557 That the Board receive and file the 2nd Quarter Forecast and 
Finance Report as presented. 
- Wilson 
 

Carried 

2021-04-06 - 3558 That the Board receive and file the monthly reports as presented. 
- Jukes 

Carried 



 

Prairie South School Division No.210 Board Meeting Minutes-April 6, 2021                                              page 2  
 

 
2021-04-06 - 3559 That the meeting be adjourned at 1:45 pm. 

- Froese 
 

Carried 

 
 
 
 
 
  
R. Bachmann   S. Robitaille 
Chairperson  Superintendent of Business and Operations 

      
 
Next Regular Board Meeting:  

May 4, 2021 
Prairie South School Division Central Office, Moose Jaw      
  



 
 

 
Meeting Date: May 4, 2021 Agenda Item #: 04.1 

Topic: Transportation Catchment Area Applications  
Intent:  Decision                       Discussion                     Information 

 
 

Background: Those individuals wishing to change their school 
catchment area allowing for transportation to another 
school have to make an application to do so.  
Administrative staff and rural trustees reviewed 7 
requests foir the 2021-2022 school year on April 20, 2021.  
The Board has included Catchment Requests as an area 
where direct Board oversight is required. 

  
Current Status: A summary list of Applications to Change a Rural 

Catchment Area with recommendations is attached. 
  
Pros and Cons:       
  
Financial Implications:       
  
Governance Implications:       
  
Legal Implications:       
  
Communications: After review by the Board of Education 

 
 

Prepared By: Date: Attachments: 
Heather Boese April 27, 2021 2021-2022 Catchment Requests 

 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Recommendation from the Rural Catchment Committee: 
 
That the Catchment Area recommendations from the Rural Catchment Committee be 
approved as presented. 
 
 

 AGENDA ITEM 



CATCHMENT AREA CHANGE REQUESTS 
April 2021 

Request 
Number 

Designated 
School 

Requested 
School Notes Recommendation 

1 Coronach Bengough 
The Board granted this family a one-year feeder 
bus as a pilot project in 2020-21. Students ride 
Coronach #1 and meet Bengough #4 in Big Beaver.  

Approve for one 
additional year and 

revisit prior to the 2022-
2023 school year. 

2 Mankota Kincaid 
Currently use Alternate Yard Service and ride 
Kincaid #3 bus to Kincaid Central School. Kincaid 
catchment is located 1.5 miles from residence. 

Deny request & offer 
Alternate Yard Service 

3 Rockglen Glentworth Glentworth School catchment is located 6 miles 
from residence. 

Deny request & offer 
Alternate Yard Service 

4 Lafleche Assiniboia 

Currently use Alternate Yard Service and ride 
Assiniboia #8 bus to Assiniboia 7th Avenue School. 
Assiniboia catchment is located 1.5 miles from 
residence. 

Deny request & offer 
Alternate Yard Service; 
review after Assiniboia 

bus routes are 
established for 21/22.  

5 Mossbank Lindale Lindale School catchment is located 4 miles from 
residence.  

Deny request & offer 
Alternate Yard Service 

6 Lindale Eyebrow 
Currently use Alternate Yard Service and ride 
Eyebrow #2 bus to Eyebrow School. Eyebrow 
catchment is located 2 miles from residence.  

Approve request 

7 Mortlach Central 
Butte 

Currently use Alternate Yard Service and ride 
Central Butte #4 bus to Central Butte School. 
Central Butte catchment is located 2.5 miles from 
residence.  

Approve request 

 



 
 
 
 

Meeting Date: 04 May, 2021 Agenda Item #: 04.2 
Topic: Local Independent Negotiation Committee (LINC) Agreement 

Intent:  Decision                        Discussion                        Information 
 

Background: Prairie South teachers and the Prairie South Board of 
Education negotiate a local agreement that includes benefits 
for teachers in addition to the benefits they have under the 
provincial collective agreement. 

  
Current Status: Prairie South teachers are covered under the current LINC 

agreement until a new one is ratified.  The current 
agreement will expire at the end of this year.  A tentative 
agreement was reached through LINC negotiations in March, 
2021.  In April, 2021, the PSTA conducted information 
sessions for teachers related to the tentative agreement, and 
held a ratification vote. 
 
93.6% of teachers have voted in favour of ratification. 
 
In order for the agreement to come into force, it must be 
ratified by the Board of Education. 

  
Pros and Cons:  
  
Financial Implications: Funding for LINC is based on historical LINC agreements, and 

varies widely among school divisions in Saskatchewan.   The 
tentative agreement is financially neutral when compared to 
the previous LINC agreement. 

  
Governance/Policy 
Implications: 

Mandates for collective bargaining are set by the Board of 
Education.  LINC negotiations are interest-based in nature, so 
the mandate consists of the interests of the school division.  
The following interests were pursued during the negotiation 
process: 

• Equity for Prairie South Teachers 
• Enhanced Outcomes for Prairie South Students  
• Fiscal Restraint 
• #learningtogether 

  

 AGENDA ITEM 



Legal Implications:  
  
Communications: Upon ratification of any new agreement, that agreement 

would become a public document, available to staff and the 
public on the Prairie South website. 

 
 

Prepared By: Date: Attachments: 
Tony Baldwin May 4, 2021 • Tentative LINC Agreement 

 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Board ratify the LINC Agreement with a term from August 1, 2021 to July 31, 2024, and 
direct the members of the negotiating team to sign the agreement on behalf of the Board of 
Education. 



       
 
 
 

 
Local Collective Bargaining Agreement 

 
BETWEEN 

 
The Board of Education of the Prairie South School Division No. 210 of 

Saskatchewan 
hereinafter called "The Employer," 

 
AND 

 
The Teachers of the Prairie South School Division No. 210 of Saskatchewan under 

provision of Section 231 of The Education Act 1995, hereinafter called "The 
Teachers." 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

August 1, 2021 to July 31, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



ii 
 

Table of Contents 
 
PREAMBLE ............................................................................................................................................... iii 
Section 1: Term of Agreement ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Section 2: Emergent Issues Committee ....................................................................................................... 1 

Section 3: Teacher Workload and Wellness ................................................................................................ 1 

Section 4: Negotiation & Professional Leave .............................................................................................. 2 

Section 5: Pay Periods ................................................................................................................................. 3 

Section 6: Pay Advance: New Teachers ...................................................................................................... 3 

Section 7: Consultant & Coordinator Allowances ....................................................................................... 3 

Section 8: Itinerant Teachers ....................................................................................................................... 4 

Section 9: Travel Reimbursement ................................................................................................................ 4 

Section 10: Vacancies .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Section 11: Substitute Teachers ................................................................................................................... 5 

Section 12: Earned Days Off ....................................................................................................................... 5 

Section 13: Compassionate Leave ............................................................................................................... 7 

Section 14: Pressing Leave .......................................................................................................................... 8 

Section 15: Maternity, Parenting & Adoption Leave .................................................................................. 8 

Section 16: Graduation & Convocation Leave ............................................................................................ 9 

Section 17: Special Leaves .......................................................................................................................... 9 

Section 18: Leave of Absence Without Pay............................................................................................... 10 

Section 19: Education Leave & Tuition Reimbursement .......................................................................... 10 

Section 20: School Determined Professional Development ...................................................................... 14 

Section 21: Preparation Time ..................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 22: Early Notice of Retirement ..................................................................................................... 15 

Section 23: Deferred Salary Leave Plan .................................................................................................... 16 

Section 24: Dispute Resolution & Grievance Procedures ......................................................................... 18 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
  
  



iii 
 

PREAMBLE 
 
In consideration of harmonious relations of employment, the parties to this Agreement acknowledge the 
following with respect to the collective bargaining process: 
 
Pursuant to Section 232 (2) (a) of The Education Act, 1995, and unless otherwise amended, for each and 
every collective bargaining agreement between the parties, bargaining collectively shall occur with 
respect to the following matters: 
 

 sabbatical leave for teachers; 
 education leave for teachers; 
 salaries for substitute teachers; 
 the duration of the local agreement; 
 pay periods for teachers; and 
 special allowances for teachers. 

 
Pursuant to Section 232 (2) (b) of The Education Act, 1995, and unless otherwise amended, both parties 
of the bargaining committee may jointly agree to bargain collectively with respect to matters other than 
those mentioned in (1). 
 
Pursuant to Section 232 (4) of The Education Act, 1995, and unless otherwise amended, a collective 
bargaining agreement between the parties shall not "contain terms regulating the selection of teachers, 
the courses of study, the program of studies, or the professional methods and techniques employed by a 
teacher." 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1 
 

Section 1: Term of Agreement 
 
1.1 This Agreement negotiated in accordance with The Education Act, 1995, shall be effective from 

August 1, 2021 to July 31, 2024, and shall remain in effect until replaced or revised.  
 
1.2 This agreement replaces the contract dated August 1, 2018 – July 31, 2021. 

Section 2: Emergent Issues Committee 
 
2.1 Committee Mandate 
 
 The purpose of the Emergent Issues Committee shall be to discuss any emerging issues and/or 

local collective agreement clarification and interpretation in order to clarify the contract or in 
order to resolve potential misunderstandings. 

 
2.2 Committee Composition 
 
 The Emergent Issues Committee shall consist of the Employer and Prairie South Teachers’ 

Association (PSTA) members: 
  Director 
  Superintendent of Human Resources  
  LINC chairperson 
  PSTA president 
  Board Trustee 
  two other LINC members 
 
2.3 Meetings 
 
 The committee shall meet as necessary. 
 
2.4 Meeting Protocol 
 

Protocol will follow The Report of the Joint Committee on Good Practices and Dispute 
Resolution. 

Section 3: Teacher Workload and Wellness 
 
3.1 Workload and Wellness Fund 
 

To fund the initiatives established by the Workload, Worklife, Wellness committee, the Employer 
shall contribute $20,000 each year to a Workload/Worklife/Wellness fund.  The fund shall be 
administered by the PSTA. 

  



2 
 

 

Section 4: Negotiation & Professional Leave 
 
4.1 Local Bargaining Committee 
 
 4.1.1 Members of the teachers' local bargaining committee, to a maximum of ten (10) teachers of 

the PSTA, shall suffer no loss of salary for required absence from their regular teaching 
duties for the purpose of participating in negotiations, mediation, conciliation, and 
arbitration proceedings which pertain to local negotiations with Prairie South School 
Division No. 210. 

 
 4.1.2 There shall be a mutual understanding between PSTA and Employer representatives that 

LINC duties shall be divided between school and non-school time. 
 
 4.1.3 The Employer shall be responsible for substitute teacher costs.  PSTA shall be responsible 

for meals. 
 
 4.1.4 The PSTA shall be responsible for expenses incurred by their committee members. 
 
 4.1.5 Any additional costs of bargaining shall be shared equally between the PSTA and the 

Employer.   
 
4.2 Local Association Professional Leave 
 
 4.2.1 In consideration of the demographics of the school division and in mutual recognition of 

the value of positive working relationships, the Employer shall provide an annual grant to 
the Prairie South Teachers' Association in the amount of $10,000 payable by September 30. 

 
 4.2.2 Local Association President 
 

4.2.2.1 The president of the PSTA shall be seconded to conduct the business of the local 
association. 

 
4.2.2.2 The percentage of secondment time for the coming year shall be determined by the 

PSTA Executive and communicated to the Superintendent of Human Resources no 
later than May 15. 

 
4.2.2.3 The PSTA shall reimburse the Employer, in monthly installments, the salary for the 

percentage of the president's release time according to the salary rate of the 
Provincial Collective Bargaining Agreement. 

 
 4.2.3 Local Association Officers 
 

4.2.3.1 The PSTA shall be granted up to forty (40) days paid leave per school year to carry 
out the business pertaining to the PSTA.  Authorization for such days shall be made 
by the PSTA President or designate. 

  



3 
 

4.2.3.2 These days shall be shared among the officers as determined by the PSTA 
Executive. 

 
4.2.3.3 The PSTA will reimburse the Employer on a monthly basis actual substitute 

teachers' salary for leave days. 
 

4.2.3.4 STF councillors shall receive two (2) paid days in lieu of time spent on councillor 
duties.  These STF Councillors’ Earned Days Off (EDO) shall not be considered in 
addition to the maximum three (3) EDOs that may be earned in any one school year 
as per Section 12.  STF Councillor EDOs are not eligible for carry-over to the 
following year.  For unused STF Councillor EDOs, a councillor shall be paid out by 
the PSTA in the amount of actual current rate of substitute teacher salary. 

Section 5: Pay Periods 
 
5.1 Teachers shall be paid over a ten-month (10) period.  Teachers on continuing contracts shall have 

the option of being paid in twelve (12) monthly payments by notifying Payroll with written notice 
by June 15 prior to the beginning of the upcoming school year.  The option shall remain in effect 
for the subsequent school year(s) unless written notification of change is provided by June 15 
prior to the upcoming school year. 

 
5.1 Teachers shall be paid their monthly salary by the 25th of the month or the last working day prior 

to the 25th, via direct deposit to the financial institution of their choice. 
 
5.3 A teacher leaving the division or taking a long-term leave shall be paid all salary owing on the 

last teaching day provided all required work has been completed. 
 
5.4 Prairie South Teachers' Association annual fees shall be deducted in ten (10) equal payments as 

determined by the local association no later than June 1.  For teachers employed less than full 
time, local association fees shall be paid according to the PSTA constitution/bylaws.  Any 
changes to this amount shall require thirty (30) days written notice by the PSTA to the Human 
Resources Department. 

 
5.5 The EI rebate shall be paid to each teacher on a monthly basis. 

Section 6: Pay Advance: New Teachers 
 
A teacher new to the Prairie South School Division may request, upon signing the contract, an early 
payment of 25% of the first month's salary, to be paid to the teacher within ten (10) working days of the 
first date of employment. 

Section 7: Consultant & Coordinator Allowances 
 
7.1 A teacher employed by the Employer and appointed to a position as a consultant shall be paid an 

allowance equal to ten per cent (10%) of maximum of Class VI on the current Provincial 
Collective Bargaining Agreement for teachers multiplied by the percentage of time assigned as a 
consultant. 

 



4 
 

7.2 A teacher employed by the Employer and appointed to a position as a coordinator shall be paid an 
allowance equal to fifteen per cent (15%) of maximum Class VI on the current Provincial 
Collective Bargaining Agreement for teachers multiplied by the percentage of time assigned as a 
coordinator. 

 
7.3 Consultant/Coordinator Reimbursement Rate 

 
7.3.1 Consultants/coordinators who must travel in the performance of their duties shall be paid at 
the current Board mileage rate.  No mileage shall be paid for travel to the 
consultant’s/coordinator’s “home” office. 
 
7.3.2 Consultants/coordinators traveling within the city of Moose Jaw and Assiniboia shall be 
reimbursed for mileage at the Board approved rates. 
 
7.3.3 Consultants/coordinators traveling outside the city of Moose Jaw and Assiniboia shall be 
reimbursed for mileage at the current Board rate for actual kilometers traveled. 

Section 8: Itinerant Teachers 
 
8.1 Definition 
 

An itinerant teacher is a teacher whose contract indicates he/she is assigned to more than one 
school as determined by the Employer. 

 
8.2 Itinerant teachers traveling between schools shall be assigned a "home" school. 
 
8.3 Itinerant Teachers' Reimbursement Rate 
 

8.3.1 Itinerant teachers who must travel in the performance of their duties shall be paid at the 
current Board mileage rate.  No mileage shall be paid for travel to the teacher's "home" 
school. 

 
8.3.2  Itinerant teachers traveling within the city of Moose Jaw and Assiniboia shall be 

reimbursed for mileage at the Board approved rates  
 

8.3.3 Itinerant teachers traveling outside the city of Moose Jaw and Assiniboia shall be 
reimbursed for mileage at the current Board rate for actual kilometers traveled. 

 
8.4 Itinerant teachers are responsible for submitting their claims for travel reimbursement. 

Section 9: Travel Reimbursement 
 
9.1 When required by the Employer to travel in the performance of duties, teachers shall be 

reimbursed for expenses incurred.  Examples of travel required by the Employer include 
attendance at a workshop, a visitation to another teacher’s classroom, or attendance at 
administrators’ meeting. 

 
9.2 Payment shall be according to Board approved policy rates for mileage, meals and 

accommodations.  Receipts are required for hotels. 



5 
 

Section 10: Vacancies 
 
Notices of all administrative and teaching position vacancies shall be sent to the principal and staff of 
each school in addition to public posting. 

Section 11: Substitute Teachers 
 
11.1 A substitute teacher shall be paid 1/197 (number of days designated by the Ministry of Education 

to constitute a school year) of the minimum Class IV of the Provincial Teachers Agreement. 
 

11.1.1 Retroactive pay resulting from the Provincial Collective Bargaining Agreement 
negotiations will not be calculated on substitute pay. 

 
11.2 After substituting for five (5) continuous/uninterrupted days for the same teacher in the same 

position, the substitute teacher, upon the sixth and pursuant days, shall be paid salary according to 
their classification and experience. Holiday or professional development day does not constitute a 
break in continuous days. 

 
11.3 Substitute teachers shall be paid for the proportion of the day worked according to the school’s 

schedule with a minimum of 0.4 and a maximum of 1.0. 
 
11.4 Part time teachers may substitute in the same school for less than 0.4. 
 
11.5 A substitute teacher shall be paid no later than the 10th day of the month following a month in 

which they provided substitute service.  The first substitute pay date in each new school year will 
be no later than October 10. 

Section 12: Earned Days Off 
 
12.1 Teachers may accumulate Earned Days Off (EDOs) for volunteering to do extra-curricular 

supervision and/or noon supervision. 
 
12.2 Definitions 
 

12.2.1 Extra-curricular Supervision 
 
Extra-curricular supervision shall be defined as the voluntary time spent supervising a 
principal-approved extra-curricular activity with students outside of regular school hours.  
Extra-curricular time shall be tracked in hours. 

 
12.2.2 Noon Supervision 

 
The Employer recognizes that every teacher is entitled to a work-free lunch time.  Noon 
supervision shall be defined as the voluntary time spent supervising students over the 
period designated as the school lunch break for staff and students.  Noon supervision time 
shall be tracked in minutes and converted to hours for the purpose of recognition. 

  



6 
 

12.3 Entitlement 
 

Extra-Curricular Supervision Noon Supervision 
 25 hours of service -  ½ day EDO 
 50 hours of service -  1 day EDO  
 75 hours of service -  1 ½ days EDO  
 100 hours of service -  2 days EDO  
 125 hours of service -  2 ½ days EDO  
 150 hours of service -  3 days EDO  
 250 hours of service -  4 days EDO 
 
Teachers must meet each threshold 
identified above. 
 
Payment Option: 
For unused EDOs, or EDOs not carried 
over, a teacher shall be reimbursed 
according to the current rate of substitute 
teacher salary. 
 

 9 hours of service -  ½ day EDO 
 18 hours of service -  1 day EDO 
 27 hours of service -  1 ½ days EDO 
 36 hours of service -  2 days EDO 
 45 hours of service -  2 ½ days EDO 
 54 hours of service -  3 days EDO 
 
 
 
Payment Option: 
Hours not converted to EDOs will be 
paid out at the rate of $19.83 (2021-
2022) per hour with an annual 
adjustment based on the corresponding 
percentage adjustment of the provincial 
teachers’ salary grid. 
 

 
12.4 Entitlement for Days Away from the Classroom 

 
A maximum of three (3) days may be earned as time away from the classroom for supervising 
students at noon or during extra-curricular activities, or a combination of both.   
 

12.5 Carry Forward 
 
A maximum of three (3) unused EDOs may be carried forward. 
 
EDOs must be carried forward in half day or full day increments.  Any EDOs carried forward 
shall be used first, subject to 12.6.  Should payout for EDOs carried forward occur, payment of 
those days shall be at the current rate of substitute teacher salary, regardless of how those EDOs 
had been earned. 
 

12.6 Usage of EDOs 
 
A maximum of five (5) EDOs may be used in any one school year. 
 
A teacher must earn all EDOs prior to using them.  In special circumstances a principal may 
approve one (1) EDO before it is fully earned and the Superintendent of Human Resources may 
approve a second EDO before it is fully earned. If by June 10 of the current year the EDO is not 
earned the teacher shall forfeit the teacher's per diem salary, unless special approval has been 
granted by the principal based on completion of hours no later than June 30 of the current school 
year. 

 
Part-time Teachers 
 
Part-time teachers who use EDOs do so pro-rated to their contracts. 



7 
 

Recognition for part-time teachers shall be applied as follows: 
 

 A 20% teacher who has earned three (3) days takes 3 days @ 20% which equals .6 from 
the bank of 3 days.  2.4 days remain in the bank for payout. 

 
 A 50% teacher working half days who has earned three (3) days takes 3 days @ 50% 

which equals 1.5 from the bank of 3 days.  1.5 days remain in the bank for payout.  The 
1.5 days may be paid out or carried forward. 

 
 A 50% teacher working full days every second day who has earned three (3) days takes 3 

days at 100% which equals 3 days from the bank of 3 days.  0 days remain in the bank for 
payout. 

 
Temporary or Replacement Teachers   

 
Teachers on temporary or replacement contracts who earn EDOs shall use them prior to the 
conclusion of their contract or be paid out. 

Section 13: Compassionate Leave 
 
13.1 Definition 
 

For the purpose of this Agreement, immediate family is defined as a teacher’s spouse or common 
law partner of either sex, child, father, mother, brother, sister, grandparent, or grandchild of a 
teacher or of a teacher's partner.  It also includes the partner of a teacher's child, grandchild, 
brother, or sister.   

 
13.2 Compassionate Care 
 

13.2.1 In the event of each serious illness/injury within a teacher's immediate family, the teacher 
shall be granted compassionate leave with pay, to a maximum of five (5) school calendar 
days in a school year. 

 
13.2.2 The Superintendent of Human Resources may grant a maximum of three (3) additional 

days. 
 
13.3 Bereavement 
 

13.3.1 A teacher shall be granted leave with pay for a period not to exceed five (5) school 
calendar days in the event of a death of each member of a teacher's immediate family or 
the immediate family of a teacher's partner. 

 
13.3.2 The Superintendent of Human Resources may grant a maximum of three (3) additional 

days. 
 

13.3.3 The Superintendent of Human Resources may grant compassionate leave in instances 
other than the immediate family. 

 



8 
 

13.3.4 Up to a full day with pay shall be granted without loss of salary to act in an official 
capacity at a funeral.  Official capacity would include being a pallbearer or eulogist. 

 
13.4 Family Responsibilities 
 

13.4.1 A teacher may be granted leave without pay to deal with family responsibilities. 
 
13.4.2 The length of time shall be mutually agreed upon between the teacher and the 

Superintendent of Human Resources. 

Section 14: Pressing Leave 
 
14.1 Pressing Leave 
 

14.1.1 Teachers with continuous contracts or replacement contracts shall be granted days not to 
exceed two (2) days with pay within any one (1) school year to attend to: 

 
 pressing matters;  
 significant family events; or 
 emergencies which are beyond the control of the individual. 
 

14.2 Pressing leave may be private and confidential.  In the event a teacher does not wish to provide a 
reason for a pressing day's leave, one (1) day may be taken at the cost of the current rate of 
substitute teacher salary with such cost deducted from the teacher's salary.   
 

14.3  Teacher requests can be made to the principal who may confirm the leave or consult with the 
Superintendent of Human Resources, or in extenuating circumstances, teacher requests can be 
made directly to the Superintendent of Human Resources. 

 
14.4 Teachers on temporary contracts employed for a period of greater than three (3) months may be 

granted pressing leave at the discretion of the Superintendent of Human Resources. 
 
14.5 Part-time teachers' leave under this section shall be pro-rated according to their percentage of 

employment. 
 
14.6 Pressing leave shall not be used for recreational purposes. 
 
14.7 Pressing leave shall not normally be used for scheduled events. 
 
14.8 Pressing leave days shall not be paid out or carried over to the following year.  

Section 15: Maternity, Parenting & Adoption Leave 
 
15.1 A teacher shall be granted maternity leave, parenting leave, and adoption leave in accordance 

with The Saskatchewan Employment Act and the Provincial Collective Bargaining Agreement.  
However, the teacher shall qualify for leave-without-pay as specified in The Saskatchewan 
Employment Act. 

  



9 
 

15.2 Parenting/Adoption Leave 
 

15.2.1 Leave of up to two (2) days with pay shall be granted to a parent at the birth of or 
adoption of his/her child. 

 
15.2.2 Leave of up to two (2) days with pay shall be granted to a non-birthing parent for the birth 

of his/her child. 
 
15.2.3 In extenuating circumstances, the Superintendent of Human Resources may grant 

birth/parenting/adoption leave in excess of two (2) days with pay. 

Section 16: Graduation & Convocation Leave 
 
16.1 A teacher shall be granted leave with pay for one (1) day to attend the high school graduation of 

their child or partner’s child. 
 
16.2 A teacher shall be granted leave with pay for one (1) day to attend one of: convocation, 

graduation, or awarding of completion certificate of self, partner, child, or parent from a post-
secondary institution. 

 
16.3 A teacher shall be granted leave with pay for one (1) day for defense of the teacher's thesis or 

dissertation. 

Section 17: Special Leaves 
 
17.1 Teachers Holding Executive Positions 
 

17.1.1 A teacher shall be granted leave with pay for a period of up to three (3) teaching days per 
school year in order to attend a provincial, national, or international meeting or 
conference in which said teacher holds a current executive position. 

 
17.1.2 Upon request the Superintendent of Human Resources may approve up to two (2) 

additional days of leave with pay. 
 
17.2 Teachers and Competitions 
 

17.2.1 A teacher may be granted leave with pay for a period up to two (2) days per school year in 
order to attend a provincial, national, or international championship event in which a 
teacher actively competes and has earned the right to compete at the event.  This clause 
refers to participation in high level competitions rather than recreational/invitational 
championships. 

 
17.2.2 There may be exceptional circumstances where the Superintendent of Human Resources 

may approve two (2) additional days of leave with pay to a teacher to compete in a 
provincial, national, or international championship event where the teacher has earned the 
right to compete at this level. 

 
17.2.3 The leave shall be without pay where the teacher involved is paid for participating in the 

event.  



10 
 

 
17.3 Emergencies Beyond the Control of the Individual  
 

17.3.1 A teacher shall be granted leave with full salary up to a maximum of two (2) days in any 
school year for absences from work for emergencies beyond the control of the individual.  
These emergencies may result from a disaster, fire, flood, or snowstorm.  When these two 
days are exhausted Pressing Leave may be used. 

 
17.3.2 Upon request, the Superintendent of Human Resources may grant additional days with or 

without pay. 
 
17.4 Sabbatical Leave 

 
A sabbatical leave shall be deemed leave without pay as per Section 19.   

Section 18: Leave of Absence Without Pay 
 
18.1 The Superintendent of Human Resources may grant leave of absence without pay for a period of 

four (4) days to fourteen (14) months.   
 
18.2 For leaves greater than one (1) month a teacher shall make application four (4) months (exclusive 

of July and August) prior to the commencement of the leave. 
 
18.3 The principal may grant one (1) day leave to be taken at the cost of the current rate of substitute 

teacher salary with such cost deducted from the teacher's salary. 
 
18.4 The principal may grant up to two (2) days leave without pay per school year to a teacher at their 

current rate of pay. 
 
18.5 Notwithstanding sections 18.1 to 18.4, leaves required by The Saskatchewan Employment Act, 

2013 shall be granted in accordance with the terms of the Act. 

Section 19: Education Leave & Tuition Reimbursement 
 
19.1 Funding 
 

19.1.1 The Employer shall make annual budget provision for the granting of education leaves 
and tuition reimbursement to a maximum Class VI salary. 

 
19.1.2 In the event there are other initiatives that provide education funding (i.e. government 

funding, Recruitment and Retention funding), those dollars shall be in addition to the 
maximum Class VI salary. 

 
19.1.3 Remaining funds shall be carried forward to the following school year. 

 
 
 
 

 



11 
 

19.2 Education Leave and Advisory Committee (ELAC) and Application Procedure 
 

19.2.1 A Selection Committee for education leaves and tuition reimbursement shall be composed 
of the following members: 

 
 the Superintendent of Human Resources 
 the PSTA president 
 two (2) teachers appointed by the PSTA Executive 

 
19.2.2 Applications for tuition reimbursement shall be submitted to the Education Leave 

Advisory Committee (ELAC) by March 1, June 1, or October 1. 
 

19.2.3 Applications will be considered as per the guiding principles of ELAC. 
 
19.3 Education Leaves 
 

19.3.1 Preamble 
 

The Employer and the teachers recognize the value of education leave and mutually agree 
to promote its utilization.   

 
19.3.2 Definition  
 
 An education leave is a period of time during which a teacher undertakes a program of 

study to meet a need in the school division. 
 
19.3.3 Terms of Leaves  
 

Where leave is granted under this section, the teacher and the Superintendent of Human     
Resources shall execute a written agreement incorporating the appropriate terms   and 
conditions stated herein. 

 
19.3.3.2 Short-Term Leave 

 
A short-term leave shall consist of six (6) months or less.  Reasons for a short-
term leave may include the following: 

 
 taking classes, 
 conducting research, 
 acquiring information through visiting other school systems, 
 attending education conferences, 
 contributing to the professional growth of a teacher, or 
 other purposes related to the welfare of the school system. 

 
19.3.3.3 Long-Term Leave 

 
A long-term leave shall be greater than six (6) months, to a maximum of 
fourteen (14) months. 

 



12 
 

19.3.4 Eligibility 
 

To be eligible to apply for a short-term or long-term education leave, 
 

 the teacher must be employed under a continuing full-time or part-time contract of 
employment and have been employed by the Employer for a minimum of three (3) 
years; or 

 the teacher may qualify with less than three (3) years of service at the discretion of 
the Superintendent of Human Resources; however, 

 the teacher shall not qualify when teaching under temporary or replacement 
contracts. 

 
19.3.5 Salary Awards 

 
Salary during an education leave shall be 50%-75% of the maximum of the salary the 
teacher would have received by teaching during the period of the leave. 

 
19.3.6 Applications 

 
An application outlining the program of study to be undertaken shall be submitted to the 
selection committee (ELAC) no later than March 1 for leaves commencing in May, May 1 
for leaves commencing in August or later and October 1 for leaves commencing in 
January. 

 
19.3.7 Return Service Provisions 

 
19.3.7.1 Immediately following the leave, the teacher shall provide the following return 

service to the Employer: 
 

 one (1) year of return service for a short-term leave, or 
 two (2) years of return service for a long-term leave. 

 
19.3.7.2 Upon return to the school system, the teacher shall be placed in a position as 

determined by the school division administration after consultation with the 
teacher. 

 
19.3.7.3 Should the teacher fail to successfully complete the program approved as a 

condition of the leave, the teacher shall undertake to refund the full amount of 
the payment made together with interest at the prime bank lending rate 
prevailing at the time the leave was granted.  The refunding shall commence no 
later than one (1) year following the date of the teacher’s return to the employ of 
the Employer.  Should the teacher successfully complete the education 
requirements of the approved program during the first year of return service, no 
repayment of funds will be required.  In the event of partial completion of the 
approved program, the Employer may waive in full or in part the repayment of 
funds paid under this section. 

 
19.3.7.4 Should the teacher fail to complete the required return service, the teacher shall 

refund the full amount of the payments made, with interest at the prime bank 



13 
 

lending rate prevailing at the time the leave was granted.  In the event there is 
partial compliance regarding return service, the amount of the refund shall be 
determined pro-rata. 

 
19.3.7.5 Subject to 19.4.7.3 and 19.4.7.4, the Employer may waive compliance by the 

teacher in whole or in part. 
 

19.3.7.6 Should the teacher die or be disabled to a degree that would render the teacher 
unable to return to teaching duties while on leave under this section or during the 
period of return service, there shall be no liability on any person or estate for 
refund of payments outstanding. 

 
19.3.7.7 Leave of absence under this section shall not be credited as experience for 

incremental purpose on the teacher’s return to the system nor shall it constitute a 
break in tenure unless the leave was initiated by the Employer. 

 
19.3.7.8 If the teacher's contract is terminated by the Employer before the full return 

service is completed, the teacher shall be exonerated from these financial 
obligations as outlined above. 

 
19.3.7.9 Should the teacher be declared redundant at any date following the granting of 

the leave and before the completion of the return service, there shall be no 
obligation for the teacher to refund any portion of the grant that would otherwise 
be refundable.  

 
19.4 Tuition Reimbursement 
 

19.4.1 Upon application teachers may be reimbursed for tuition for post-secondary course from 
an accredited post-secondary institution. 

 
19.4.2 Application 
 

Application shall be made prior to the commencement of the course by March 1, June 1 or 
October 1.  Applications will be considered as per the guiding principles of ELAC. 

 
19.4.3 Eligibility 
 

To be eligible to apply for tuition reimbursement the teacher must be employed under a 
continuing full-time or part-time contract of employment.  Teachers under temporary or 
replacement contracts do not qualify. 

 
19.4.4 Tuition Reimbursement 

 
19.4.4.1 A teacher may be reimbursed for the full amount of tuition or as determined by 

ELAC. 
 
19.4.4.2 Upon receipt of proof of registration, the Employer shall reimburse the approved 

amount. 
 



14 
 

19.4.4.3  A teacher receiving an award shall submit evidence of successful completion of 
the course within sixty (60) days of the end of the course.  If such evidence is 
not received by the Superintendent of Human Resources, the teacher shall repay 
the amount received through a deduction from salary. 

 
19.4.5 Return Service Provisions 

 
The teacher shall continue as an employee at Prairie South for a minimum of one  
semester following the reimbursement or shall be subject to repayment of the tuition 
reimbursement. 

Section 20: School Determined Professional Development 
 
20.1 Preamble 
 

The Employer and the Teachers believe that professional development is necessary in order to 
improve teaching and learning.  Professional development includes a variety of experiences 
which provide an opportunity for professional growth as well as an opportunity to be a part of an 
organizational vision. 

 
20.2 By October 30 of every school year, the Employer shall make formula-based budgetary provision 

for School Determined Professional Development.  This funding shall be allocated separately 
from school budgets.  A Professional Development Committee shall be established in each school 
to collaboratively administer professional development funds. With the exception of schools with 
staffs of fewer than three (3), the committee shall consist of one (1) principal plus a minimum of 
two (2) teachers. 

 
20.3 Professional development opportunities may include conferences, professional exchanges, 

seminars, workshops, short courses, summer STF courses, webinars, school visits, and 
conventions. 

 
20.4 All professional development expenses shall be reimbursed at current school division rates.  This 

shall include mileage, hotels, parking, substitute teacher costs, and registration fees.  Original 
receipts are required for hotels, parking, and registration. 

Section 21: Preparation Time 
 
21.1 Principles 
 

The Prairie South School Division maintains its commitment to the curricular program through 
provisions of preparation time for teachers.  This time is based on three (3) foundational 
principles: 

 
 provision shall be equitable (just and fair); 
 provision shall enhance the teachers’ capacities to meet the needs of students; and 
 provision shall enhance the school’s capacity to be a learning community. 

  



15 
 

21.2 Definition 
 

Preparation time is scheduled time, other than recess and lunch breaks, within the school day.   
The use of preparation time is determined by the teacher. 

 
21.3 Allocation of Preparation Time 
 

21.3.1 10% Preparation Time Within the School Timetable 
 

10% preparation time shall be allocated to schools based on full time teaching 
equivalents. 
 
The assignment of preparation time to individual teachers may be less than 10% in 
schools where administration in consultation with all staff, determines creative and 
practical ways to meet the needs of their teachers and school.   

 
21.3.2 Common and Discretionary Preparation Time 

 
21.3.2.1 There shall be five (5) common non-student preparation days scheduled by the 

Employer in consultation with division stakeholders including the PSTA. 
 
 There shall be four (4) preparation days to be scheduled at the teacher’s 

discretion, as per the Guiding Principles (21.3.2.2).  A substitute teacher shall be 
provided for each day. 

 
21.3.2.2 Guiding Principles 

 
 All preparation time is pro-rated according to the teacher’s contract 

assignment, including principals with teaching assignments. 
 Full-day preparation time is recommended wherever possible. 
 Preparation days may be utilized in half-day increments but must be taken in 

an equal number of mornings and afternoons. 
 Permission must be granted by the principal to utilize two or more 

preparation days consecutively. 
 Teachers are expected to be at work during preparation days.  Out-of-

building preparation time must be approved by the principal. 
 Preparation days shall not be taken in conjunction with EDO days. 
 Preparation days shall be taken on student-contact days. 
 Preparation days must be used by June 30 and will not be carried forward to 

the next year; nor will they be paid out if not used. 

Section 22: Early Notice of Retirement 
 
22.1 Teachers who have a minimum of ten (10) years of immediate prior continuous service with the 

Prairie South School Division who provide early notice of retirement, shall be granted an 
incentive of $6000. 

 
22.2 The incentive shall be pro-rated to the percentage of contract at the time of application and is 

subject to the following conditions: 



16 
 

 
22.2.1 Superannuation at June 30 

 
 By January 15 of the applicable school year, the teacher must indicate, in writing, 

to the Superintendent of Human Resources, intent to retire on June 30 of the 
current school year. 

 The teacher must meet eligibility requirements to superannuate. 
 The teacher may choose the option to receive a cash payment (taxable) or a 

transfer to RRSP or annuity plans (tax deferred), if applicable. 
 

22.2.2 Superannuation at Mid-Year  
 

 By May 1 of the current school year, the teacher must indicate, in writing, to the 
Superintendent of Human Resources, intent to retire at either December 31 or the 
end of semester one of the following school year. 

 Prior to acceptance of the letter, school division staff will consult with the school 
principal to determine impact of the intended mid-year retirement date on school 
programming.  In the event that the other mid-year retirement date is determined 
to be more conducive to uninterrupted school programming, the Employer will 
meet with the teacher to determine a solution that meets the needs of both parties 
and ensures payment of the benefit described in 22.1. 

 The teacher must meet their first eligibility date of superannuation after June 30 of 
the current school year and by January 1 of the following school year. 

 The teacher may choose the option to receive a cash payment (taxable) or a 
transfer to RRSP or annuity plans (tax deferred), if applicable. 

 
22.3 Continuous service with the Employer shall include: 

 secondment; 
 maternity, adoption, or parenting leave; 
 income continuance; or 
 deferred salary leave (for the year of the leave). 

 
22.4 Continuous service with the Employer shall not include leave of absence without pay. 

Section 23: Deferred Salary Leave Plan 
 
23.1 Definition  
 

The Deferred Salary Leave Plan (DSLP) shall enable a member of Prairie South Teachers 
Association to schedule and finance a one-year leave of absence.  The one-year leave of absence 
shall be taken with pay provided for by deferring a percentage of salary for a specified number of 
preceding years. 

 
23.1.1 Eligibility 

 
The DSLP shall be available for teachers employed in Prairie South School Division on 
permanent contracts. 

 
 



17 
 

23.1.2 Restrictions 
 

The DSLP shall be restricted to a one (1) year leave of absence called the “leave period.”  
Salary (not including allowances) shall be set aside in each of the preceding three (3), four 
(4), or five (5) years called the “deferral period.”  The participant shall choose one of the 
three available deferral periods. 

 
23.1.3 Leave Period 

 
The leave period shall be one (1) school year, from the commencement of school in 
August or September to 
June of the following calendar year. 

 
23.1.4 Deferral Period 

 
The deferral period of three (3), four (4), or five (5) years shall be each of the three (3), 
four (4), or five (5) school years preceding the leave period. 
 

23.1.5 Applications 
 

Applications must be completed by the teacher prior to February 1 preceding the school 
year in which the deferral period is to begin.  Applicants shall be notified within 45 days 
of receipt of their application as to whether or not their application has been approved. 

 
23.1.6 Application Approval   

 
When the application is approved, the teacher shall be required to sign a deferred salary 
contract supplied by the Employer.  The deferred salary contract must be completed prior 
to June 1 of the school year preceding the first year of the deferral period. 

 
23.1.7 Withdrawal from Plan 

 
A teacher shall be required to take the planned leave of absence if they have not 
withdrawn from the plan prior to March 1 of the school year preceding the leave period. 

 
23.1.8 Federal Regulations 

 
The DSLP is subject to the changes to the regulations of Canada Revenue Agency and 
The Income Tax Act. 
Should a discrepancy arise between this plan and The Income Tax Act, the Act shall 
prevail.  The position shall be at the discretion of the Superintendent of Human 
Resources. 

 
23.2 For questions related to the impact of the DSLP on local or provincial benefits, contact Human 

Resources or the Saskatchewan Teachers’ Federation. 
  



18 
 

Section 24: Dispute Resolution & Grievance Procedures 
 
24.1 Purpose 
 

The purpose of the dispute resolution and grievance procedure is to deal with any questions 
regarding the interpretation, application, or alleged violation of any section or subsection of this 
agreement.  It is believed that the best way to handle such disputes or grievance is to encourage a 
focus on problem resolution through engagement in open communication of the parties involved. 

 
24.2 Disputes Between a Teacher and the Employer 
 
 Informal 
 

Step 1: The teacher involved shall first attempt resolution by writing to seek information and 
clarification from those individuals who are most likely able to provide such information 
and clarification.  This may include, but is not limited to, a LINC representative, the 
LINC Chairperson, the PSTA president, the Superintendent of Human Resources, and the 
Director. 

 
Step 2: If, after such discussions a dispute still exists, the teacher(s) involved shall refer the 

dispute to the LINC Chairperson and shall seek resolution by using (a) or (b) below: 
 

a) The LINC Chairperson receives the complaint, gathers information, and makes 
known his/her interpretation to the individual(s) involved. 

 
b) The LINC Chairperson follows the process outlined in (a) but meets face to face 

with the individual(s) involved before making a written interpretation regarding 
the dispute. 

 
In each of (a) and (b), the LINC Chairperson shall have fifteen (15) working days to 
make known their interpretations of the dispute. 

 
Formal 

 
Step 1: If a dispute still exists, the dispute now becomes a formal grievance and shall be written 

by the individual(s) involved setting forth: 
 

a) the section(s) of the agreement infringed upon or claimed to have been violated 
 

b) the nature of the grievance and the circumstances out of which it arose; and 
 

c) the resolution being sought. 
 

The written grievance shall be submitted to the Superintendent of Human 
Resources within ninety (90) days of the individual(s) having access to the 
information that would make them aware of the alleged act causing the grievance.  
The Superintendent of Human Resources shall gather information as appropriate 
and shall make known his/her decision to the aggrieved within fifteen (15) 
working days of receipt of the grievance. 



19 
 

 
Step 2: If the aggrieved is still dissatisfied, the individual may within fifteen (15) working days 

submit the grievance to arbitration as provided for in The Education Act, 1995 (Sections 
261-263).  

 
Step 3: Arbitration 

 
24.3 In the event the initiator of the grievance fails to follow the procedure and the time limits 

established in this section, the grievance shall be deemed to be abandoned. 
 
24.4 Where the recipient of the grievance fails to respond within the time limits prescribed, the 

grievance shall proceed to the next step.  
 
 

Dated this ________ day of___________, 2021 
at the city of Moose Jaw, in the province of Saskatchewan. 

 
 
 

 
On behalf of the Prairie South Teachers’  On behalf of the Prairie South School Division 
Association No 210 
 
 
    
 
 
    
 
 
    
 
 
    
 
 
   
 
 
   
 
 
   
 
 
   
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

Meeting Date: May 4th, 2021 Agenda Item #: 04.3 
Topic: Proposed 2021-2022 Budget 

Intent:  Decision                        Discussion                        Information 
 

Background: The Board of Education provides strategic direction during the 
budget development process, and has reviewed the proposed 
budget for the 2021-2022 at planning sessions on April 27th and 
28th of 2021. 

  
Current Status: The Ministry of Education requires Board of Education to submit 

their 2021-2022 budget for approval prior to June 30, 2021. 
 

  
Pros and Cons:  
  
Financial Implications:  
  
Governance/Policy 
Implications: 

 

  
Legal Implications: In accordance with The Education Act 1995, the Minister of 

Education must approve the School Division budget before it is 
implemented. 

  
Communications:  

 
Prepared By: Date: Attachments: 
Ron Purdy April 29, 2021 Budget schedule 

 
Recommendation:   
One of the following two motions:  
 
Motion 1: “That the Board approve the 2021-2022 Budget as presented with revenue of 
$93,149,219, operating expenses of $90,796,547 and capital purchases of $9,861,542.” 
 
Alternate Motion: “That the Board approve the 2021-2022 Budget as presented with revenue 
of $93,149,219, operating expenses of $90,796,547 and capital purchases of $9,861,542 
pending significant changes from the ministry.” 

 AGENDA ITEM 



Budget Budget

Chart of Accounts 2021-22 2020-21

REVENUES

1-1-01-000-000 Property Taxes and Other Related -                     -                   

1-1-02-000-000 Grants 87,068,485       80,682,967     

1-1-03-000-000 Tuition and Related Fees 216,500             234,000           

1-1-04-000-000 School Generated Funds 1,283,954         1,511,071       

1-1-07-000-000 Complementary Services 691,700             625,142           

1-1-08-000-000 External Services 3,457,580         3,565,194       

Restructuring -                     -                   

1-1-05-000-000 Other Revenue 431,000             519,300           

Total Revenues 93,149,219       87,137,674     

EXPENDITURES

1-2-10-000-000 Governance 413,793             460,988           

1-2-11-000-000 Administration 2,777,029         2,879,201       

1-2-12-000-000 Instruction 60,266,123       59,278,980     

1-2-13-000-000 Plant 14,266,359       13,409,096     

1-2-14-000-000 Transportation 6,804,296         6,528,234       

1-2-15-000-000 Tuition and Related Fees 8,000                 10,000             

1-2-16-000-000 School Generated Funds 1,262,797         1,455,398       

1-2-21-000-000 Complementary Services 1,450,165         1,246,246       

1-2-22-000-000 External Services 3,541,985         3,748,210       

Restructuring -                     -                   

1-2-17-000-000 Other Expenses 6,000                 7,000               

Total Expenditures 90,796,547       89,023,353     

Excess (Deficit) for the year 2,352,672         (1,885,679)      

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUESTED FROM THE SCHOOL DIVISIONS:

Budget Budget

2021-22 2020-21

Tangible Capital Assets (1):

(-) Purchases Schedule 1 9,861,542         4,372,660       

(+) Proceeds from disposals Schedule 1 -                     -                   

Long Term Debt, including capital leases (2):

(-) Repayments of the year Schedule 2 -                     -                   

(+) Debt issued during the year Schedule 2 -                     -                   

SCHOOL DIVISION: Prairie South School Division No. 210

CASH BUDGET

For the period ending August 31, 2022

Description



NON-CASH GAIN/EXPENSES (3):

(+) Amortization expense Schedule 1 4,159,375         4,220,544       

(-) Gain on disposals of tangible capital assets Schedule 1 -                     -                   

(+) Employee Future Benefits expenses Actuarial Report 267,300             251,300           

OTHER CASH REQUIREMENTS:

 (-) Employee Future Benefits expected payments Actuarial Report 188,500             208,000           

NET EXCESS (DEFICIT) CASH OF THE YEAR (3,270,695)        (1,994,495)      

FINAL DEFICIT/EXCESS POSITION WILL BE COVERED BY/ALLOCATED TO:

S.286 Reserves -                     -                   

Unused PMR funding from previous years -                     815,000           

Designated Assets 1,690,000         900,000           

Unrestricted Surplus 1,580,695         279,495           

Other -                     -                   

REVISED CASH POSITION -                     -                   



 
 
 
 

Meeting Date: May 4, 2021 Agenda Item #: 04.4 
Topic: 2021 Graduation Dates 

Intent:  Decision                        Discussion                        Information 
 

Background: Graduation planning is underway in schools.  Graduations are 
subject to significant restrictions due to the global COVID-19 
pandemic. 

  
Current Status: Dates have been chosen for graduation ceremonies and are 

provided here. 
  
Pros and Cons:  
  
Financial Implications:  
  
Governance/Policy 
Implications: 

 

  
Legal Implications:  
  
Communications:  

 
 

Prepared By: Date: Attachments: 
Tony Baldwin May 4, 2021 • Graduation Dates 

• Re-Open Saskatchewan 
Guidelines 

 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Board review the information provided. 
 

 AGENDA ITEM 



School Grad Date
Assiniboia Comp June 30

Avonlea May 29

Belle Plaine

Bengough June 12

Briercrest Christian Academy June 25

Central Butte June 26

Central Collegiate June 25-29

Chaplin May 29

Cornerstone Christian June 29

Coronach June 12

Craik June 25

Ecole G'bourg May 29…

Eyebrow June 11

Glentworth June 19

Kincaid June 5 

Lafleche June 26

Mankota June 12

Mortlach June 11 (backup 12)

Mossbank June 11

Peacock June 25 (backup 28)

Riverview June 29

Rockglen May 29

Rouleau June 11







 
 
 
 

Meeting Date: May 4, 2021 Agenda Item #: 04.5 
Topic: Monthly Reports 

Intent:  Decision                        Discussion                        Information 
 

Background: The Board has requested monthly updates regarding staff 
absences and tenders awarded. 

  
Current Status: Current Information is attached. 
  
Pros and Cons:  
  
Financial Implications:  
  
Governance/Policy 
Implications: 

 

  
Legal Implications:  
  
Communications:  

 
 

Prepared By: Date: Attachments: 
Tony Baldwin May 4, 2021 • Staff Absence Summaries 

• Tender Summary  
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Board receive and file the monthly reports as presented. 
 

 AGENDA ITEM 



Teacher Absences & Substitute Usage

Date  Range:  March 23, 2021 - April 26, 2021

Absence Reason Days

% of Total 

Absences Sub Days

% Needed 

Sub

% of 

possible 

days

Compassionate Leave 17.75 1.99% 14.93 84.11% 0.21%

Competition Leave 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

Convocation Leave 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

Earned Day Off 18.55 2.08% 16.28 87.76% 0.22%

Education Leave 1.1 0.12% 1.1 100.00% 0.01%

Emergency Leave 4.08 0.46% 0 0.00% 0.05%

Executive Leave 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

Prep Time 52.17 5.85% 49.18 94.27% 0.62%

Pressing Leave 16.34 1.83% 12.68 77.60% 0.20%

PSTA 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

Leave Without Pay  1.5 0.17% 1.5 100.00% 0.02%

SUB TOTAL 111.49 12.50% 95.67 85.81% 1.33%

Court/Jury 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

Illness - Teacher 330.45 37.06% 263.34 79.69% 3.95%

Illness - Long Term 96.01 10.77% 0 0.00% 1.15%

Medical/Dental Appt 92.76 10.40% 76.89 82.89% 1.11%

Paternity/Adoption Leave 3 0.34% 2.8 93.33% 0.04%

Quarantine 138.88 15.58% 68.74 49.50% 1.66%

Secondment 2.08 0.23% 1.8 86.54% 0.02%

STF Business - Invoice 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

Unpaid Sick Leave 10 1.12% 9.8 98.00% 0.12%

SUB TOTAL 673.18 75.50% 423.37 62.89% 8.04%

Extra/Co-curr Teach 0.5 0.06% 0.3 60.00% 0.01%

FACI Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

HUMA Meet/PD 11.37 1.28% 9.65 84.87% 0.14%

Internship Seminar 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

IT Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

LRNG Meet/PD 41.7 4.68% 32.39 77.67% 0.50%

PD DEC Teachers 41.1 4.61% 30.69 74.67% 0.49%

School Operations Meet/PD 12.32 1.38% 12.32 100.00% 0.15%

TRAN Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

SUB TOTAL 106.99 12.00% 85.35 79.77% 1.28%

Total Absences 891.66 100.00% 604.39 67.78% 10.65%

Teachers (FTE) # of teaching Days Possible Days

440.83 19 8375.77

Long Term Illness: When a temporary contract is issued for an illness leave of 20+ days.

Provincial Agreement/ Education Act/ Employment Act

Prairie South

LINC Agreement



CUPE Staff Absences & Casual Usage 2020-2021
Date: March 29, 2021 - April 25, 2021

Absence Reason Days
% of Total 
Absences Sub Days

% Received 
Sub

% of 
possible 

days

Act of God 3.87 0.62% 0 0.00% 0.08%
Bereavement Leave 11 1.76% 4.28 38.91% 0.22%
Community Service 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Compassionate Care 2 0.32% 0 0.00% 0.04%
Competition Leave 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Convocation Leave 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Covid Close Contact Leave 60.33 9.65% 21.27 35.26% 1.20%
CUPE Business - Invo 6 0.96% 6 100.00% 0.12%
Earned Day Off 0.93 0.15% 0 0.00% 0.02%
Executive Position 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Family Responsibilities 6.83 1.09% 4.83 70.72% 0.14%
Illness - Support 322.42 51.56% 150.61 46.71% 6.43%
Med/Den Appt Support 40.22 6.43% 12.74 31.68% 0.80%
Parenting/Caregiver 16.51 2.64% 9.28 56.21% 0.33%
Pressing Leave 4.5 0.72% 1 22.22% 0.09%
Quarantine Leave 27.58 4.41% 10.67 38.69% 0.55%
Service Recognition Days 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
TIL Support 5.75 0.92% 0 0.00% 0.11%
Without Pay  Support 12.9 2.06% 5.78 44.81% 0.26%
SUB TOTAL 520.84 83.30% 226.46 43.48% 10.39%

Court/Jury Duty 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Paternity Leave 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Special Vaccination Leave 6.12 0.98% 3.28 53.59% 0.12%
Vacation Support 70.25 11.24% 37.43 53.28% 1.40%
Workers Compensation 28.06 4.49% 15.67 55.84% 0.56%
SUB TOTAL 104.43 16.70% 56.38 53.99% 2.08%

ACCT Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
BUSI Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Extra/Co-curr Sup 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
FACI Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
HUMA Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
LRNG Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
PD DEC In Province Support Staff 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
PD Out of Province Support Staff 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
SCHOOL OPERATIONS MEET/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
TRAN Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
SUB TOTAL 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Total Absences 625.27 100.00% 282.84 45.23% 12.48%

Possible Days Days FTE Total Days
March 29, 2021 - April 25, 2021 18.00 278.43 5011.74

CUPE Agreement 

Employment Act

Prairie South

** WCB absences are adjusted after they occur as they are not entered as such until WCB accepts and pays the 
claim.



Bus Driver Staff Absences & Casual Usage 2020-2021
Date: March 29, 2021 - April 25, 2021

Absence Reason Days
% of Total 
Absences Sub Days

% 
Received 

Sub

% of 
possible 

days

Act of God 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Bereavement Leave 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Community Service 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Compassionate Care 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Competition Leave 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Convocation Leave 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Covid Close Contact 14.00 6.73% 14.00 100.00% 0.93%
Family Responsibilities 6.00 2.88% 6.00 100.00% 0.40%
Illness - Support 51.00 24.52% 51.00 100.00% 3.40%
Med/Den Appt Support 10.00 4.81% 10.00 100.00% 0.67%
Parenting/Caregiver 14.00 0.00% 14.00 100.00% 0.93%
Pressing Leave 1.00 0.48% 1.00 100.00% 0.07%
Quarantine Leave 16.00 7.69% 16.00 100.00% 1.07%
Without Pay  Support 67.00 32.21% 67.00 100.00% 4.47%
SUB TOTAL 179.00 72.60% 179.00 100.00% 11.95%

Court/Jury Duty 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Paternity Leave 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Special Vaccination Leave 1.00 0.00% 1.00 100.00% 0.07%
Vacation Support 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Workers Compensation 28.00 13.46% 28.00 100.00% 1.87%
SUB TOTAL 29.00 14.74% 29.00 200.00% 1.94%

ACCT Meet/PD 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
BUSI Meet/PD 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Extra/Co-Curricular 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
FACI Meet/PD 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
HUMA Meet/PD 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
LRNG Meet/PD 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
SCHOOL OPERATIONS MEET/PD 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
TRAN Meet/PD 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
SUB TOTAL 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Total Absences 208.00 87.34% 208.00 100.00% 13.89%

Possible Days Days Staff Total Days
March 29, 2021 - April 25, 2021 14.00 107.00 1498.00
** Data includes data from 3 CUPE bus drivers

Conditions of Employment

Employment Act

Prairie South

*** WCB absences are adjusted after they occur as they are not entered as such until WCB accepts and 
pays the claim.



Out of Scope Staff Absences & Casual Usage 2020-2021
Date:  March 29, 2021 - April 25, 2021

Absence Reason Days
% of Total 
Absences Sub Days

% 
Received 

Sub

% of 
possible 

days

Act of God 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Bereavement Leave 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Community Service 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Compassionate Care 0.3 0.36% 0 0.00% 0.04%
Competition Leave 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Convocation Leave 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Covid Close Contact 21 0.00% 0 0.00% 2.64%
Family Responsibilities 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Illness - Support 5.3 6.41% 0 0.00% 0.67%
Med/Den Appt Support 4.34 5.25% 0 0.00% 0.55%
Parenting/Caregiver 2.35 2.84% 0 0.00% 0.30%
Pressing Leave 2.26 2.73% 0 0.00% 0.28%
Quarantine Leave 6 7.26% 0 0.00% 0.75%
Without Pay  Support 18 21.77% 0 0.00% 2.26%
SUB TOTAL 59.55 72.02% 0 0.00% 7.48%

Court/Jury Duty 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Paternity Leave 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Special Vaccination Leave 0.51 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.06%
Vacation Support 22.62 27.36% 0 0.00% 2.84%
Workers Compensation 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
SUB TOTAL 23.13 27.98% 0 0.00% 2.91%

ACCT Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
BUSI Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
FACI Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
HUMA Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
LRNG Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
SCHOOL OPERATIONS MEET/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
TRAN Meet/PD 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
PD Out of Province 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
SUB TOTAL 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%
Total Absences 82.68 100.00% 0 0.00% 10.39%

Possible Days Days FTE Total Days
March 29, 2021 - April 25, 2021 18.00 44.22 795.96

Conditions of Employment

Employment Act

Prairie South

** WCB absences are adjusted after they occur as they are not entered as such until WCB accepts and pays 
the claim.



   

 
Tender Report for the period March 31, 2021 to April 28, 2021 

 
  
Background:  

• Board has requested a monthly report of tenders awarded.   
• Administrative procedure 513, which details limits where formal competitive bids are required. 

The procedure is as follows: 
− The Board of Education has delegated responsibility for the award of tenders to 

administration except where bids received for capital projects exceed budget. In this 
case the Board reserves the authority to accept/reject those tenders. A report of 
tenders awarded since the previous Board Meeting will be prepared for each regularly 
planned Board meeting as an information item.  

− Competitive bids will be required for the purchase, lease or other acquisition of an 
interest in real or personal property, for the purchase of building materials, for the 
provision of transportation services and for other services exceeding $75,000 and for 
the construction, renovation or alteration of a facility and other capital works 
authorized under the Education Act 1995 exceeding $200,000. 

 
 
Current Status:    
 
The following competitive bids were done: 

• A quote was issued for accessibility upgrades at Assiniboia Composite High and Coronach 
Schools. The quote was awarded to C&S Builders for a cost of $20,220 plus taxes. 

• A tender was issued for a mechanical upgrade at Rockglen School. The tender was awarded to 
Excel Refrigeration of Regina for a price of $394,790 plus taxes. 

• A request for proposals was issued for Driver Education. The RFP was awarded to Wascana 
Driving school of Regina on points. 

• A request for quotes was issued for a new digital projector for the Peacock Auditorium. The 
quote was awarded to Hillman AV for a cost of $26,279 plus taxes.  

• A quote was obtained for  the growing dome at Prince Arthur. The quote was awarded to Actic 
Acres for a cost of $22,030 plus taxes. 



 
 
 
 

Meeting Date: May 4, 2021 Agenda Item #: 06.1 
Topic: Village of Avonlea Statement of Claim 

Intent:  Decision                        Discussion                        Information 
 

Background: The Village of Avonlea levied a local improvement tax in 2017 
connected with the paving of a roadway adjacent to the 
playground at Avonlea School.  Trustees and administration 
communicated with the Village at that time, and a delegation from 
Prairie South attended a Village Council meeting to explain that 
school divisions did not receive funding for local improvement 
taxes.  The Board did not pay the tax bill as invoiced and in the fall 
of 2020, the Village of Avonlea submitted a Statement of Claim in 
pursuit of the unpaid amount.  The Board provided a statement of 
defense as required and attended a mediation session with the 
Village on April 7, 2021. 

Current Status: At the mediation session on April 7, representatives of the Board 
agreed to make a lump sum payment of $86,829.03 to the Village 
of Avonlea as settlement in this matter.   

  
Pros and Cons:  
  
Financial Implications: Payment has been made. 
  
Governance/Policy 
Implications: 

 

  
Legal Implications: The Village of Avonlea’s Statement of Claim has been abandoned 

as a condition of settlement. 
  
Communications:  

 
 

Prepared By: Date: Attachments: 
Tony Baldwin May 4, 2021  

 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Board review the information provided. 

 AGENDA ITEM 


	2021-2024 Tentative LINC Agreement.pdf
	PREAMBLE
	Section 1: Term of Agreement
	Section 2: Emergent Issues Committee
	Section 3: Teacher Workload and Wellness
	Section 4: Negotiation & Professional Leave
	Section 5: Pay Periods
	Section 6: Pay Advance: New Teachers
	Section 7: Consultant & Coordinator Allowances
	Section 8: Itinerant Teachers
	Section 9: Travel Reimbursement
	Section 10: Vacancies
	Section 11: Substitute Teachers
	Section 12: Earned Days Off
	Section 13: Compassionate Leave
	Section 14: Pressing Leave
	Section 15: Maternity, Parenting & Adoption Leave
	Section 16: Graduation & Convocation Leave
	Section 17: Special Leaves
	Section 18: Leave of Absence Without Pay
	Section 19: Education Leave & Tuition Reimbursement
	Section 20: School Determined Professional Development
	Section 21: Preparation Time
	Section 22: Early Notice of Retirement
	Section 23: Deferred Salary Leave Plan
	Section 24: Dispute Resolution & Grievance Procedures

	20210504 SUPP DOC Teacher Absences Sub Usage Report.pdf
	MAR

	Support Staff Absence Report for Board - Mar 29,.21 - Apr 25.21.pdf
	Bus Driver Totals
	CUPE Totals
	OOS Totals

	20210504 4.5 2021-22 Budget Summary Sheet for Board approval.pdf
	Sheet1




